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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 
 
It is my great pleasure to present the Annual Report and Accounts for Baobab Resources Plc 
for the year ended 30th June 2013.    
 
This has been a year in which Baobab matured from an exploration towards a development 
company and has managed to do so against an extraordinarily difficult macro-economic 
background.  
   
It is therefore worth reminding shareholders of the particular qualities that have allowed 
Baobab to move ahead with confidence.    
 

§ Large Scale Resource of Global Significance  
 
In April we announced our latest resource statement showing a global JORC resource 
of 727 Mt, of which 217 Mt has been upgraded into the Indicated category.  Drilling 
continues to upgrade further to Measured.    
 

§  Location – Ability to Capture Added Downstream Value  
 
The Tete Pig Iron Project is strategically located with access to abundant low tariff 
hydro-electric power and thermal coal, two critical cost components in the 
beneficiation of iron ore and down-stream smelting.  This allows us to move into 
relatively low cost value added downstream processing to produce pig iron rather 
than competing for space on crowded infrastructure with bulk commodity DSO 
shipments.    
 

§ Proven, Low Risk Processing Route  
 
The flow sheet envisaged to produce pig iron at Tete is directly analogous to those in 
operation for many years at Highveld Steel and Vanadium in South Africa and at 
New Zealand Steel (Glenbrook).  Reduction and smelting testwork at the 
Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) laboratories 
in Australia on our concentrates and using local coal as a reductive agent has 
produced clean pig iron reporting 97% Fe and only trace impurities.   
 

§ Lowest Quartile Costs, Robust Economics  
 
All of these factors combine to deliver strong economic fundamentals, with operating 
costs of $160/t after vanadium credits placing the project comfortably within the 
lowest quartile of pig iron producers worldwide.  In March the Pre-Feasibility Study, 
based on 1 Mtpa production of pig iron, utilizing just 15% of the orebody, reported a 
37 year operating life with NPV10 pre-tax returns of $1.3 billion and 22% IRR on a 
capital expenditure of $1.1 billion.  The subsequent 2 Mtpa scenario reported in June 
demonstrated the modular ability to scale up the project with pre-tax NPV10 rising to 
$2.4 billion and 26% IRR for capital expenditure of $1.98 billion.  This 2 Mtpa 
scenario assumed an operating life of 22 years, using just 20% of the available ore 
body, further demonstrating the ability to customize the project to fit the requirements 
of any future investor and of the market.    
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We also benefited from the support of strong and committed shareholders.  The International 
Finance Corporation (“IFC”) of the World Bank Group has been a shareholder and 
contributing 15% project owner since January 2009. In July 2012, Redbird Investments Ltd 
(“Redbird”), a wholly owned investment vehicle of African Minerals Exploration & 
Development SICAR SCA (“AMED”), made an investment of £4,000,000 into the Company 
at 8 pence per share, an 8.4% premium to the share price at the time. 
 
Redbird has continued to support the Company, converting warrants at 12 pence per share in 
January, and subscribing for a further 5,000,000 ordinary shares in October at 15 pence per 
share, a premium of 15% to the previous day’s close.  Redbird wishes to maintain its ability to 
support the Company, but to do so would almost certainly cause its interest to rise above the 
30% threshold which would need shareholder and Takeover Panel approval, and about which 
I shall be writing to shareholders again soon in more detail.  Suffice to say that, in this market 
where alternative sources of funds are hard to find, the presence of a strong and committed 
shareholder on our register, prepared to invest at a premium to market, is to be embraced.    
 
As any company moves from explorer to developer it is important to ensure it has available to 
it the correct blend of skills and experience at both management and Board level.  On the 
Board we are privileged that Dr Mohan Kaul has agreed to join us. Dr Kaul is a distinguished 
and experienced international business figure and was the first Director General and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Commonwealth Business Council on its establishment by the 
Commonwealth Heads of Government in 1997.  He is also, among many other 
responsibilities, a member of the Presidential Advisory Council of Mozambique.   
 
As part of Redbird’s investment we have also welcomed Carlo Baravalle and Dr David Twist 
on to the Board.  Their contributions to Board discussions are invariably constructive with an 
unwavering focus on shareholder value. Jon Crowe stepped down in May 2013 to make way 
for these additions and I take this opportunity to thank him for his many contributions to the 
Company from its formation and wish him well in the future.   
  
To strengthen the management team we are pleased to have appointed Frank Eagar as Chief 
Financial Officer.  Frank has nearly 15 years of mainly Africa related experience of capital 
raisings, project finance and M&A across a diverse range of large-scale resource projects.    
 
As we embark on the studies that will result next year in delivery of the Definitive Feasibility 
Study (“DFS”) we recognize that it is optimistic to expect us to be able to finance a project 
with a capital expenditure requirement in the region of $1 billion on our own.  To that end we 
have retained Standard Chartered Bank (“SCB”) as strategic corporate advisor.  SCB have 
expressed interest in being part of, perhaps leading, the debt component of the financing, but 
clearly no commitment can be made until they have reviewed the DFS.  However the 
provisional support of such a major bank should encourage potential strategic investors to 
review the investment case as we progressively de-risk the project through the DFS.  
Shareholders will be aware that major companies such as POSCO, Nippon Steel, Tata Steel, 
Jindal Steel, Vale and Rio Tinto are already active in Mozambique.    
 
Our clear focus is on Tete and so we have entered into JV arrangements at Changara with 
Metals of Africa, and with Auroch Minerals on a portion of our Mundonguara licence. Details 
of these and our other licences can be found in the Managing Director’s report.   
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Nothing that we have achieved through the year – expanding and upgrading the resource, 
completing the pre-feasibility study and 2 Mtpa scenario, the metallurgical testwork, the 
environmental studies, our government and community relations – would have been possible 
without the commitment of our dedicated workforce in Mozambique.  On your behalf I take 
this opportunity to thank them.    
 
Your Company has had to weather extraordinary storms since the sub-prime crisis of 2007 
initiated the Global Financial Crisis of 2008 but with the benefit of an outstanding project, the 
support of strong and loyal shareholders, the unstinting efforts of management and employees 
on the ground, we face the coming year and the delivery of the DFS with great confidence.    
 

 
 
Jeremy Dowler 
Chairman 

11 November 2013 

 
 
 



Baobab Resources plc 
Annual Report 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

Page | 5  
 

 
 
PROJECT OVERVIEW 
 
Baobab continues to strengthen and expand its strategic position in Mozambique. Work 
completed during the reporting period has focused on completing the Pre-Feasibility Study 
(‘PFS’) at the Tete pig iron and ferro-vanadium project. 
 
TETE PIG IRON & FERRO-VANADIUM PROJECT 
 
The project is located in the Tete province of Mozambique, a country richly endowed with 
both mineral and gas resources. The province hosts some of the largest undeveloped coal 
reserves remaining on Earth and, with estimates pointing towards the area having the potential 
to produce up to 20% of the world’s seaborne coking coal within the next decade, is fast-
tracking to become a mining and industrial hub of global significance (Figure 1). 
 
Figure 1: Tete location plan 

 
 
The International Finance Corporation (“IFC”), hold a 15% participatory interest in the 
project with Baobab owning the remaining 85%. The Company announced on 28 August that 
IFC has committed to supporting the on-going Definitive Feasibility Study (“DFS”) work 
programme through a pro rata contribution of approximately US$1m, bringing their total 
direct project investment to date to c.US$5m. 
 
Since commencing exploration in 2008, the Company has defined a 727Mt global resource 
inventory (510Mt inferred and 217Mt indicated, estimated and classified under the guidelines 
of the JORC (2004) Code), 550Mt of which underlies the very compact 2.5km2 footprint of 
the Tenge/Ruoni prospect (presented in Table 1). 
 
Immediately south of, and sharing the Company’s licence boundaries, are c.15Bt of coking 
and thermal coal resources being brought into production by two of the world’s largest mining 
companies, Rio Tinto and Vale, along with tier one steel producers, Tata Steel, Nippon Steel, 
Jindal Steel and POSCO. Other operators in the area include London listed companies Beacon   
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Hill Resources plc, Ncondezi Coal Company plc and Eurasian Natural Resources Corporation 
plc (“ENRC”). 
 

Table 1: Tete Iron Project Global Resource Inventory 

Whole Rock Grade Estimates Derived by Ordinary Kriging - *15% Lower Cutoff Grade Applied     **No Lower Grade Cutoff Applied 

Resource Classification Based on JORC Code (2004) Guidelines 
                              

AREA Resource Tonnage Fe V2O5 TiO2 SiO2 Al2O3 P LOI CaO K2O MgO MnO S 

  Classification (Mt) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) (%) 

Ruoni 
North* 

 Indicated 82.2 37.1 0.4 13.7 15.6 9.5 0.00 -1.8 2.2 0.2 4.9 0.2 0.2 

 Inferred 24.6 38.0 0.4 14.2 14.5 9.3 0.00 -1.8 2.1 0.2 4.6 0.2 0.2 

 Total 106.8 37.3 0.4 13.9 15.4 9.4 0.00 -1.8 2.2 0.2 4.8 0.2 0.2 

Tenge* 

 Indicated 116.1 37.0 0.4 13.6 15.7 9.8 0.01 -1.7 2.4 0.2 4.2 0.2 0.2 

 Inferred 73.4 37.8 0.4 14.1 14.9 9.3 0.01 -0.8 2.1 0.2 3.8 0.2 0.2 

 Total 189.4 37.3 0.4 13.8 15.4 9.6 0.01 -1.3 2.3 0.2 4.1 0.2 0.2 

Ruoni 
South* 

Indicated 19.0 33.2 0.4 12.2 19.1 10.8 0.01 -1.0 3.2 0.3 4.7 0.2 0.2 

 Inferred 49.2 33.3 0.4 12.5 19.1 10.5 0.01 -1.1 3.2 0.3 4.8 0.2 0.2 

Total 68.2 33.3 0.4 12.4 19.1 10.6 0.01 -1.1 3.2 0.3 4.8 0.2 0.2 

Ruoni 
Flats*  Inferred 188.6 35.2 0.4 12.8 17.3 10.3 0.01 -1.3 2.7 0.3 4.7 0.2 0.3 

Chitongue 
Grande** Inferred 60.9 24.9 0.2 9.6 29.4 12.0 0.00 -0.2 4.8 0.7 4.6 0.2 0.3 

South 
Zone** Inferred 113 27.5 0.2 10.1 25.9 8.0 0.29 -0.7 5.2 0.3 6.9 0.3 0.3 

  
Total Indicated 217.2 36.7 0.4 13.6 16.0 9.8 0.0 -1.6 2.4 0.2 4.5 0.2 0.2 

Total Inferred 509.7 32.6 0.3 12.1 20.3 9.8 0.1 -1.0 3.4 0.3 5.0 0.2 0.3 

Grand Total 726.9 33.8 0.4 12.5 19.0 9.8 0.1 -1.2 3.1 0.3 4.9 0.2 0.2 

 
The Tete province is also home to southern Africa’s largest source of hydro-electric power, 
the 2,075 megawatt Cahora Bassa dam. Additional hydro-power schemes, currently in the 
advanced planning stages, will see power production more than double once implemented. 
Thermal power production is also likely in the near future. 
 
The Project stands to benefit from the significant infrastructure investments already being 
made in the region. The rail corridors linking the Tete province with the coast are rapidly 
being refurbished and expanded, as are the ports of Beira and Nacala. The Company is 
confident that it will be able to secure allocation well in advance of estimated production time 
lines. 
 
It is the project’s strategic access to the requisite iron and steel making commodities of iron 
ore, coal, power and water that differentiates Baobab’s project from any other in Africa, if not 
globally, and presents an unique opportunity to add substantial value on site through the 
mine-mouth smelting of a high value pig iron product. 
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Pig iron is classified as a raw material derived from the intermediate smelting of iron ore. It is 
used alongside scrap iron in electric arc furnaces (“EAFs”) to generate crude and finished 
steel products. The global consumption of pig iron is estimated at c.70Mtpa (including the 
domestic Chinese market), complementing a c.350Mt annual consumption of scrap iron.  
 
Due to its consistent chemical composition and density, pig iron is considered a superior 
product and typically trades at a premium to scrap iron. Pig iron prices vary between markets 
with North America typically reporting the lowest prices and Asia, in particular China, the 
highest. Current pricing ranges from $425/t to $500/t. 
 
The market fundamentals for pig iron are robust and supported to a large extent by the on-
going development of the BRIC (Brazil, Russia, India and China) economies as well as sub-
Saharan Africa where regional demand for construction steel continues to grow on the back of 
rapid urbanisation and the commissioning of large scale infrastructure projects such 
Mozambique’s emerging offshore gas industry. Other key drivers to the continued growth of 
the pig iron sector include the maturing of China’s scrap iron market and a general decline in 
the quality of scrap iron elsewhere in the world. 
 
The Company commissioned a detailed Pre-Feasibility Study (“PFS”) work programme in 
January 2012, the results of which were announced to the market on 28 March 2013. The PFS 
assessed a base-case of 1Mtpa pig iron production over a minimum 20-year mine life (with 
increased production models at 2Mtpa and 4Mtpa) and was completed by a leading group of 
internationally respected consulting firms and individuals including Coffey Mining Limited, 
John Clout and Associates, ProMet Engineers, SNC Lavalin, Coffey Environment and Ferrum 
Consultants. Equipment suppliers were also involved in the design and costing of the pyro-
metallurgical flow sheets. Analysis was largely completed at the Amdel, ALS Chemex and 
CSIRO laboratories in Australia. The Study has been completed to a PFS-level of accuracy 
and is based on a number of process engineering initiatives including raw materials analysis, 
bench scale test work and the process comparison with similar, existing pig iron production 
plants.  
 
The Pre-Feasibility Study indicates that there is the potential to establish an economically 
viable operation at the Tete Project. The production of pig iron was evaluated using tried and 
tested beneficiation, reduction and smelting technologies, which are well established in 
similar commercial operations worldwide, including South Africa and New Zealand. The base 
case scenario of 1 million tonnes per annum (‘Mtpa’) pig iron production estimates a capital 
expenditure of US$1.14bn and delivers strong project economics, with pre-tax NPV10 of 
US$1.3bn and a payback period of 4-5 years.  
 
The 1Mtpa scenario modelled production over a 37-year mine life which resulted in the 
development just 15% of the total 727Mt resource, clearly highlighting the opportunity for 
increased production scenarios. In order to gauge the advantages of a scaled up pig iron 
operation, the Company modelled a production scenario at 2Mtpa, the results of which were 
announced on 17 June 2013. The 2Mtpa model returned Pre-tax NPV10 of US$2.4bn, pre-tax 
IRR of 26%, capital expenditure of US$1.98bn and a payback period of 3-4 years. A 
comparison of the 1Mtpa and 2Mtpa financial parameters are presented in Table 2. 
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Table 2     1Mtpa 2Mtpa 
Summary of Key Financial Parameters  Unit with 37y LOM with 22y LOM 
     NPV @ 10% (Pre - Tax)  US$M 1,261 2,401 
EBITDA (LOM) US$M  10,376 12,430 
EBITDA (Avg. p.a, steady state)  US$M p.a 280 565 
IRR (Pre - Tax)  % 22 26 
     Key Parameters         
Resource Base  Mt 117 145 
Life Of Mine  Years 37 22 
Pig Iron production  (LOM) Mt  37 44 
FerroVanadium Production (LOM) Kt 119 141 
Royalty (1)  % 3% 3% 
    Commodity Prices         
Pig Iron  US$/t 450 450 
Ferro-vanadium  US$/t 25,000 25,000 
     Unit Operating Costs (FOB) 
Pig Iron (Pre Credit) US$/t pig iron 225 224 
Ferro-vanadium US$/t pig iron 4,652 4,652 
Pig Iron (Post Credit)  US$/t pig iron 159 158 
     Capital Expenditure         
Upfront Capex - Pig Iron Plant US$M 1,010 1,761 
Upfront Capex - FerroVanadium Plant US$M 133 220 
Total Upfront Capex  US$M 1,143 1,981 
Sustaining Capital - First 5 years(2) % 2.5% 2.5% 
Sustaining Capital > 5Years(2) % 5.0% 5.0% 
     (1) Model assumes 5 year grace period from start of 
production    
(2) Calculated on mechanical plant and equipment cost (c. 
40% of upfront Capex)    

 
The Government of Mozambique offers various investment incentives for major industrial 
projects, with more favourable taxation terms for projects that add a significant amount of 
value in-country, create local employment and are export orientated. For instance, BHP 
Billiton’s Mozal aluminium smelter and Kenmare’s Moma mineral sands project have both 
been granted Industrial Free Zone (“IFZ”) status which makes them exempt from corporation 
tax, import duties, export duties and Value Added Tax while requiring payment of a 1% 
turnover tax. The completion of the PFS now enables the Company to enter into discussions 
with the Government of Mozambique as to the structure of the tax regime for the Tete Project. 
It is for these reasons that the Company has not presented ‘after tax’ figures. 
 
The pyro-metallurgical test work completed during the PFS not only provided physical and 
empirical evidence that a high-quality, low-impurity pig iron could be generated through the 
direct reduction and smelting of concentrates derived from the Project’s iron ore, but also 
demonstrated the viability of the locally produced middling by-product coal as an agent in the 
reduction process. Please review RNS dated 4 March 2013 for further details. 
 
As this middling coal is essentially a waste by-product, the Company will be able to negotiate 
a very competitive mine-gate rate which is one of the key drivers, along with the ability to co-
generate a significant power credit and a very low stripping ratio averaging just 0.4 over the 
first c.10 years of mining, that establishes the Tete project as potentially one of the lowest cost 
pig iron producers globally. The PFS estimate of a pre-credits free on board (‘FOB’) cost of 
production of US$225/t pig iron is considered to be very competitive, particularly when 
compared to the estimated FOB operating cost (‘opex’) of $385/t of Brazilian operations  
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(Figure 1). Operations in Russia and the Ukraine are thought to have similar production costs 
to Brazil, while domestic Chinese operating costs are thought to be substantially higher. 
 
Figure 2: Comparative Opex Brazil vs. Baobab 

 
 

The mineralisation at Tete includes significant amounts of vanadium which will be extracted 
as a vanadium slag during the smelting process. Further refining of the vanadium slag results 
in the production of ferro-vanadium alloy, currently sold at price levels of around 
US$25,000/t. The operating cost to upgrading the vanadium slag to ferro-vanadium alloy is 
US$4,650/t, less than a third of the operating cost of a dedicated ferro-vanadium production 
plant. At 1Mtpa pig iron production, the operation would co-produce c.3,000tpa ferro-
vanadium alloy, delivering by-product revenues in the order of US$75m (gross) per annum.  

Titanium is successfully separated from the iron during the smelting process and recovered as 
a titanium slag by-product grading approximately 30% TiO2. The slag is likely to be of 
commercial use only as a low cost material for road construction or as an extender in the 
cement industry and has limited impact on the financial model. 

With the PFS successfully concluded, Baobab has embarked on a Bankable Feasibility Study 
(‘BFS’). Work programmes have been prioritized to address key areas of perceived risk with 
measured resource drilling and bench-scale metallurgical test work well underway. A bulk 
sample has been collected and despatched to South Africa for pilot-scale comminution and 
beneficiation tests prior to reduction test work in the USA and finally smelting studies 

Following on from the environmental impact scoping study completed during the PFS and 
successfully lodged with the relevant government authorities, wet and dry season 
environmental baseline studies have been completed. These studies, complemented by a 
demographic survey currently underway, will form the basis of the Environmental, Social and 
Health Impact Assessment (‘ESHIA’).  
 
In parallel to the technical and environmental/social programmes, Baobab is making 
significant advances in formalizing port, rail and power allocations on the existing and 
expanding infrastructure facilities. The Company has signed a memorandum of understanding 
(‘MoU’) with the Mozambique power utility company Electricidade de Moçambique 
(‘EDM’) and, in conjunction with EDM, has engaged Parsons Brinckerhoff to complete a 
study to identify and prioritise potential power sources and accurately estimate tariff rates.  

 

 

 



Baobab Resources plc 
Annual Report 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

Page | 10  
 

 

 

The study will also assess the cost benefits of power co-generation through the capture and 
treatment of off-gasses from the iron making facility. 
 
Additionally, agreements are in advanced draft form with both private and public sector 
groups to secure access to port and rail facilities, with a focus on the Sena line/Beira port 
corridor, where capacity is currently being expanded to c.18Mtpa, and the c.22Mtpa Nacala 
corridor, which is on schedule for commissioning by Q1 2015. 
 
The Company is actively pursuing a strategic partner to assist in the development of the Tete 
project. In an effort to expedite the process, Baobab has engaged the specialist mining 
corporate finance division of Standard Chartered Bank (‘SCB’) as its strategic advisor. 
Standard Chartered will assist Baobab to determine and execute its corporate opportunities 
with relation to the Tete Project.  As part of the mandate Standard Chartered will consider 
project partnership and offtake-related arrangements, direct equity investments and other 
corporate options as well as financing alternatives. 
 
MUANDE MAGNETITE / PHOSPHATE JOINT VENTURE 
 
The Company announced on 15 November 2010 the signing of a Joint Venture (the ‘Joint 
Venture’) with North River Resources plc (‘North River’) in relation to North River’s 
Muande project (the ‘Muande Project’) in the Tete province of Mozambique. The Muande 
Project comprises two exploration licences covering an area of 338km² located approximately 
25km northwest of the provincial capital of Tete and contiguous with Baobab’s Tete project. 
The Joint Venture is structured such that Baobab may earn an increasing participatory interest 
in the Project of up to 90% through funding three prescribed stages. Stage 1 is all but 
complete; earning Baobab a 60% holding in the project and the Company has entered 
discussions with North River as to their interest in participating pro-rata for Stage 2. 
 
The Monte Muande magnetite/phosphate deposit is located 25km to the northwest of the 
provincial capital of Tete. The international highway to Zambia passes within 3km of the 
project. The deposit is hosted in a carbonatite and was explored during the 1980s by the 
Geological Institute of Belgrade (“GIB”). GIB completed two phases of vertical diamond 
drilling between 1983 and 1985 totalling 5,570m, 2,960m of which falls within the Joint 
Venture area. The Institute also completed more than 10km of trenching and bench-scale 
metallurgical test work. 
 
Using the GIB data sets in conjunction with more recent soil geochemistry and aeromagnetic 
surveys completed by Omegacorp, consultants Coffey Mining calculated an Exploration 
Target of 200Mt to 250Mt to an average depth of c.40m below surface. Coffey also carried 
out a high level review of the GIB metallurgical data which indicated that a magnetite 
concentrate containing 67% Fe could be generated via a process of coarse grinding and 
magnetic separation, followed by regrinding and a flotation circuit to recover a phosphate 
rock concentrate containing 36% P2O5. Total magnetite and apatite recoveries of 92% and 
70% respectively were recorded. Please refer to RNS announcement dated 19 September 2011 
for additional details. 
 
During the latter half of 2011, Baobab completed a c.2,000m diamond drilling at Monte 
Muande. The programme comprised 10 angled drill holes sited along a staggered traverse 
transecting the central portion of the deposit. Drilling intersected broad zones of shallowly 
dipping magnetite and apatite (a phosphate mineral) mineralisation.  
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Due to the disseminated nature of the apatite mineralisation, the entire length of each drill 
hole was sampled and analysed. The average head grade of all sampled material reported 10% 
Fe and 3% P2O5. Significant intercepts of the magnetite rich zones were presented in RNS 
dated 10 April 2012. The average head grade of all Muande significant intercepts is 21% Fe 
with the Davis Tube Recovery (“DTR”) magnetic concentrate grades reporting a weighted 
average of 69% Fe at a mass recovery of 26% (representing a total iron yield of 87%). 
Deleterious elements are generally very low in the DTR concentrate with the exception of 
sulphur (S) and titanium (TiO2); additional test work is currently underway to determine the 
best magnetic strength conditions to optimise the concentrate quality. 
 
The magnetite intercepts generally reported an enrichment of phosphate compared to 
background values with an average head grade of 4% P2O5. The Phosphate was further 
upgraded to a calculated weighted average of 5.5% (ranging up to 8.8%) in the non-magnetic 
reject component of the DTR process. A bench-scale apatite recovery test work programme is 
being prepared to determine the potential quality and recovery rates of a phosphate rock 
concentrate. 
 
A total of 76 vertical trench samples have been collected from various locations across the 
Monte Muande deposit. The sampling programme was designed as a first-pass test of the 
eluvial horizon (in situ remnant soil and weathered bedrock) overlying the deposit which may 
represent a potential source direct shipping ore (“DSO”) requiring little or no beneficiation. 
Following a preliminary phase sizing and analysis, a more comprehensive auger programme 
covering the surface extent of the eluvials in the Monte Muande area was completed during 
the second half of 2012. Further work on the project has been suspended while North River 
resolve minor tenure administration issues. 
 
MUNDONGUARA COPPER / NICKEL / GOLD PROJECT 
 
During 2008 the Company announced a JORC Inferred Mineral Resource Estimate on the 
1km long mine portion of the Mundonguara Project of 3.1Mt @ 1.4% copper, 0.11g/t gold, 
2.1g/t silver. This resource estimate, in conjunction with a soil geochemical survey, 
geophysical interpretation, trenching and RC drilling results indicate that the Mundonguara 
System is significantly larger than previously recognized, with mineralization remaining open 
at depth and along strike. 
 
A large footprint nickel in soil anomaly, supported by Induced Polarity (“IP”) geophysics, has 
been defined over a strike length of c.3km immediately south of the mine. Nickel analysis in 
drill, channel and trench sampling has recorded significant intercepts of up to 0.72% Ni. 
 
On 20 August 2013, the Company announced that it had signed a Joint Venture Heads of 
Agreement (‘JV’ or ‘HOA’) with Australian exploration company Auroch Minerals NL 
(ASX: AOU) (‘Auroch’) in relation to the northern 18km2 portion of the 145km2 
Mundongaura Exploration Licence 1022L (the ‘Area of Interest’). The Area of Interest 
overlies the along strike structural continuations of Auroch’s 3Moz Manica Gold Project 
(3990C Mining Concession) and excludes the Mundonguara copper/gold/nickel trend. The 
HOA is conditional upon Auroch completing due diligence. 

The HOA is structured so that Auroch will be able to earn into the Area of Interest over a four 
year, two-stage investment: 
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• 2-stage investment of up to US$1,500,000 to earn a maximum 80% interest in the JV 
Area. 

• After completion of the second stage work programme Auroch has the option to 
purchase Boabab’s 20% interest in the JV Area on terms mutually agreeable to both 
parties. Alternatively, Baobab may participate in further work programmes on a pro-
rata basis. 

 
CHANGARA BASE METAL & MANGANESE PROJECT 
 
The Changara project comprises four exploration licences covering an area of 525km2 located 
approximately 100km southwest of the Provincial capital of Tete and flanking Zimbabwe’s 
north-eastern border. The national power grid passes within 15km of the project’s eastern 
boundary. 
 
The licences are underlain by lower Proterozic rocks of the Rushinga Group which flank the 
north-eastern margin of the Zimbabwe Craton. Although the area has experienced limited 
historical exploration, it is considered highly prospective for SedEx / Broken Hill Type 
polymetallic base and precious metal and manganese mineralisation and hosts numerous 
occurrences of zinc, lead, manganese, iron ore, fluorite, copper and silver. 
 
On 28 November 2012, the Company announced that it had entered into a joint venture with 
Metals of Africa (‘MTA’), an ASX listed exploration company that holds eight exploration 
licences, known collectively as the Rio Mazoe Project, which are contiguous with Baobab’s 
Changara Project. The company has a strong technical management team resident in 
Mozambique and has commenced a 4,500m drilling programme assessing two high priority 
lead/zinc/silver targets within the Rio Mazoe Project. 
 
Metals of Africa have completed preliminary geological and geochemical surveys over the 
higher priority base metal targets in the Changara Project area have identified a series of new 
zones of sulphide mineralisation, including a lead bearing vein in the Mahdewa prospect. The 
Mahdewa prospect is located between MTA’s Rulio prospect, where recent rockchip 
sampling returned analyses of up to 75.7% lead and 229g/t silver, and the Fumo Dique 
prospect (also within the Changara JV tenure), where historical work returned grades of up to 
15.3% lead and 39.3g/t silver. The outcropping Mahdewa vein has been mapped along strike 
for 200m with coarse grained galena (lead sulphide) disseminated through vein quartz. Initial 
XRF results of several hand samples has returned up to 80% lead, however the vein appears to 
have a representative grade of approximately 8.56% lead.  
 
The discovery of Mahdewa adds to the growing evidence of the metal bearing potential of the 
Rio Mazoe and Changara projects and will assist in defining high priority Broken Hill Type 
(‘BHT’) drill targets. 
 
OUTLOOK 
 
Work during the reporting period has focused almost exclusively on the completion of the 
Tete project Pre-Feasibility Study. The results of the PFS provide independent confirmation 
of the Project’s viability, and more importantly, its compelling economics. The completion of 
the PFS marks another significant milestone on the Company’s way to becoming not only the  
first iron producer in Mozambique, but also one of the lowest cost producers of pig iron 
globally. In addition, to be able to do this using tried and tested technology and modular plant  
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equipment keeps the Project as straight-forward as possible whilst limiting initial financial 
exposure. In short, this PFS confirms the Company’s objectives at Tete of adding value on-
site, maximising margin and minimising risk. 
 
With the PFS successfully concluded, Baobab has embarked on a Bankable Feasibility Study 
(‘BFS’). Work programmes have been prioritized to address key areas of perceived risk with 
measured resource drilling, bench-scale metallurgical test work and environmental/social 
studies well underway. 
 
The Company recognises that, to ensure project success and thereby maximise shareholder 
value, the development and implementation of a corporate road-map is of parallel importance 
to the project’s technical development. To which end, the Company announced on 13 June 
2013 the engagement of Standard Chartered Bank (‘SCB’) as its strategic corporate advisor. 
Standard Chartered, through its specialist mining corporate finance division, will assist 
Baobab to determine and execute its corporate opportunities with relation to the Tete Project.  
As part of the mandate, Standard Chartered will assess a range of strategic corporate 
opportunities and financing alternatives to support the successful development of the Tete 
project. Standard Chartered’s substantial footprint in emerging markets and successful track 
record working alongside companies with large scale assets, such as Baobab, makes it an 
excellent fit for the Tete Project as it matures into a one of the most exciting development 
stories in southern Africa. 
 
In early July 2012, the Company welcomed to the register and the board the AMED fund 
through a £4m cornerstone investment. In January 2013 AMED converted their warrants, 
generating £3m and further demonstrating their unparalleled support. On 11 October, AMED 
continued their support of the Company by taking up a further placement of £0.75m and 
another £1.25m conditional on shareholder and regulatory approval.  This placement at a 
premium to the share price is accompanied with an options package, which could potentially 
fund the full definitive feasibility study and set the Company on the path towards execution of 
the Tete Pig Iron Project.   

 

Ben James 
Managing Director 

11 November 2013 

Maputo, Mozambique 

Competent Persons Statement  
 
The information in this release that relates to Exploration Results is based on information 
compiled by Managing Director Ben James (BSc). Mr James is a Member of the Australasian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, is a Competent Person as defined in the Australasian 
Code for Reporting of exploration results and Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, and 
consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on the information in the form and 
context in which it appears.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT  
 
The Directors present their report and financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013. 
 
Principal activity 
 
During the financial year the principal activity of the Group was the investigation and analysis 
of geological opportunities in Mozambique. 
 
Baobab Resources plc has five 100% owned subsidiary companies: 
 
Maputo Minerals Limited (Registered in the British Virgin Islands) 
Mocambique Resources Limited (Registered in the British Virgin Islands) 
Capitol Resources Lda (Registered in Mozambique) 
Baobab Mining Services Pty Ltd (Registered in Australia) 
Mayfair Mineral Exploration Lda (Registered in Mozambique) 
 
Baobab Resources plc owns all the shares in Maputo Minerals Limited which owns 50% of 
the shares in Capitol Resources Lda and Mayfair Mineral Exploration Lda.  
 
Maputo Minerals Limited owns all the shares in Mozambique Resources Limited which owns 
50% of the shares in Capitol Resources Lda and Mayfair Mineral Exploration Lda.  Capitol 
Resources Lda holds a 100% interest in 11 Mozambique prospecting licences.  Baobab 
Resources plc owns all the shares in Baobab Mining Services Pty Ltd which is providing 
management services for the exploration programme in Mozambique. 
 
During the year the Group has further developed the areas of interest under these licences. 
 
Results and dividends 
 
The loss for the year ended 30 June 2013 after income tax was ₤8,191,311 (2012 - 
₤7,507,852). 
 
No dividends have been paid during the year and the Directors do not recommend that any 
dividend be paid. 
 
Business review 
 
A review of the business is contained in the Chairman's Statement and the Project Overview 
on pages 2 to 13 of the Annual Report. 
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Financial risk management objectives and policies 
 
The Group uses various financial instruments these include cash, and various items, such as 
trade receivables and trade payables that arise directly from its operations. The main purpose 
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's operations.  The existence of 
these financial instruments exposes the Group to financial risks, which are described in more 
detail below.  To date the Group has not had significant financial risks for the Directors to use 
hedging or other financial risk minimising transactions. 
 
The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and 
they are summarised below. 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risks affecting the Group are currency risk and interest rate risk.  In the Group's 
operations to date, currency risk is the more significant risk to which the Group has been 
exposed. 
 
The Group is exposed to translation and transaction foreign exchange risk. In relation to 
translation risk, as far as possible the assets held in the foreign currency will be matched to an 
appropriate level of borrowings in the same currency. Whilst the aim is to achieve an 
economic hedge the Group does not adopt an accounting policy of hedge accounting for these 
financial statements. 
 
Credit risk 
 
The Group's principal financial assets are cash.  The credit risk associated with cash is limited 
as the counterparties have high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. 
 
Liquidity risk  
 
The Group’s practice is to regularly review cash needs including those of its subsidiaries and 
to place excess funds on fixed term deposits for periods not exceeding three months with an 
institution that is of high credit rating. 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by control of expenses and periodic raising of additional 
equity. The Group has sufficient funds to continue operations for the forthcoming year.   
 
Exchange controls 
 
The mining projects in Mozambique are still at an exploration stage and no funds were 
remitted from Mozambique during the year. No significant remittances are anticipated in the 
foreseeable future. 
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Key performance indicators (KPIs) 
 
Retention of existing exploration licences 
 
The Group has retained its existing tenement holdings and held 11 exploration licences during 
the financial year. 
 
Project drilling and evaluation 
 
The Group sets regular targets for drilling and evaluation work and progress is monitored on a 
regular basis by the Board. 
 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors attendance at Board meetings 
 
There has been 100% attendance at monthly Board meetings achieving the Board’s desired 
attendance criteria. 
 
Expenditure is undertaken in line with budget 
 
Actual expenditure has remained within budget during the year. 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties 
 
The significant risks that may affect the Group include funding, political risk, labour risk and 
exploration risk.  These are general economic conditions which may affect exploration 
companies.  These risks are minimised through the development of sound management 
practices. 
 
Funding risk 
 
The Group will from time-to-time seek to raise funds to manage its exploration programme.  
Fund raising will usually be undertaken by placement of equities via the AIM market or 
entering into a joint venture arrangement with a partner for one of its projects.  The funding 
risk faced by the Group is that it may not be able to raise the required funds at the time that 
the funds are required.  Under these circumstances the Group would amend its exploration 
programme to remain within its existing financial resources. 
 
Political risk 
 
The Group’s exploration licences are in Mozambique.  The Group faces political risk whereby 
changes in government policy or a change of governing political party could place its 
exploration licences in jeopardy.  The Mozambique government has been stable for many 
years and fosters a beneficial climate towards companies exploring for resources.  It is not 
anticipated that this situation is likely to change. 
 
Labour risk 
 
The Group needs to employ both a skilled and unskilled labour force to undertake its 
exploration programme.  The labour risk identifies that a suitably skilled labour force may not 
be available.  To mitigate the risk, the Group has undertaken to train employees in the skills 
required and has engaged suitably skilled specialists as required. 
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Exploration risk 
 
The Group currently holds 11 licenses exploring for a variety of commodities in 
Mozambique.  The Group has a large land-holding covering six discrete project areas.  The 
Group faces exploration risk that the results of the exploration activities indicate that there is 
no economically viable quantities of minerals from its exploration sites. 
 
Creditors payment policy 
 
It is the Group's policy to settle the terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing the terms 
of the transaction, to ensure that suppliers are aware of those terms and endeavour to abide by 
them. Trade creditors at year end amount to 19 days (2012: 18 days) average supplies for the 
year. 
 
Indemnities and insurance 
 
Article 40 of Baobab Resources plc Articles of Association allows the Group to, subject 
always to the provisions of the Statutes, and without prejudice to any protection from liability 
which may otherwise apply, at its discretion and subject to any policies adopted by the 
Directors from time to time, indemnify every Director or other officer of the Group out of the 
assets of the Group against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities which it may 
sustain or incur in relation to the Group in or about the actual or purported execution of the 
duties of his office or the exercise or purported exercise of his powers or otherwise in relation 
thereto, including any liability incurred by him in defending any criminal or civil proceedings, 
provided that no such indemnity shall be provided in respect of any liability incurred. 
 
The Directors and executive officers named in this Annual Report have the benefit of this 
requirement, as do individuals who formerly held one of those positions.  
 
Future developments 
 
Future developments are contained in the Chairman’s Statement and Project Overview on 
pages 2 to15. 
 
Post balance sheet events  
 
In August 2013 the Company received approximately £629,390 from International Finance 
Corporation (“the IFC”) through a pro rata contribution as part of its 15% interest in the Tete 
joint venture project.  
 
In September 2013 the Company issued 10.5 million unlisted options consisting of 5 million 
options exercisable at 25.00p and 5.5 million options exercisable at 20.00p with an expiry 
date of 30 June 2016. 
 
During October 2013 the Company has raised further funds through two separate placements. 
A further £101,500 was drawn down from the Company’s £17,000,000 Equity Line of Credit 
facility with Dutchess Opportunity Cayman Fund Ltd, leaving an available balance of  
£13,724,300. A total of 725,000 ordinary shares were issue and allotted at 14.00 pence per share. 
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In addition, the Company entered into a placement agreement with African Minerals Exploration 
& Development SICAR SCA through its wholly owned subsidiary Redbird Investments Ltd 
(“Redbird”).  A total of £750,000 before expenses was raised through Redbird subscribing for 
5,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of 15.00 pence per share. Redbird was also granted 
5,000,000 options exercisable at 20.00 pence each with an expiry date of 30 June 2016. 
 
The Company has 306,838,426 fully paid ordinary shares in issue following the issue of these 
shares. 
 
The Company also conditionally placed with Redbird, subject to shareholder and regulatory 
approval, the following: 
 

1. 8,500,000 ordinary shares at a price of 15.00 pence per share; 
2. 8,500,000 options exercisable at 20 pence per option and expiring 30 June 2016; 
3. Up to 27,000,000 options at an exercise price per ordinary share equal to 105% of the 

volume-weighted exercise price for the five consecutive trading days immediately prior 
to the date of exercise. These options are exercisable in whole or in part multiples of 
500,000 from the date of issue until the first anniversary of the issue. 

 
Corporate 
 
The Group is limited by shares and domiciled in England.  
 
Directors 
 
The Directors during the year were as follows: 
 
Jeremy Dowler 
Jonathan Beardsworth 
Ben James  
Alexander Jon Crowe – Resigned 30 April 2013 
David Twist – Appointed 17 August 2012 
Carlo Baravalle – Appointed 30 January 2013 
Mohan Kaul – Appointed 1 May 2013 
 
Information on Directors 
 
Jeremy Dowler – Chairman 
 
Jeremy's career as a finance director has taken him from the City of London to South Africa 
and Australia in senior administrative positions in insurance, publishing and resources, 
including Brockbank Group plc and Thomson Books (London book publishing division of 
International Thomson Organisation).  Jeremy has served on the Boards of various resource 
companies and was a founding shareholder and the former finance director of Platmin 
Limited, a platinum exploration and development Company with projects in South Africa.   
 
Platmin Limited was formerly listed on AIM and the Toronto Stock Exchange.  He brings 
significant administrative and financial skills to the Group. 
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Ben James BSc. – Managing Director  
 
Ben is a senior geologist with over 10 years experience in the exploration and mining 
industry.  Graduating with a degree in geology from the University of Otago in 1994, he has 
since held exploration and development roles in a variety of terrains including the Archaean 
Greenstone belts of Western Australia, proterozoic gold and base metal systems in Zambia, 
porphyry gold-copper deposits in the Romanian Carpathians and Ordovician orogenic 
mesothermal gold mineralisation in New Zealand's South Island. Ben has worked for various 
companies including Oceana Gold, RSG Global, Katanga Resources, Hill 50 Gold and Herald 
Resources. As Managing Director of Baobab, Ben’s role is focused on the advancement of the 
Groups’s projects in Mozambique. 
 
Jonathan Beardsworth - Non-Executive Director 
 
Jonathan Beardsworth is a former CEO of Metals Exploration plc. Previously he was head of 
the London office of Standard Bank plc’s Mining and Metals team.  In the last 20 years he has 
participated in and led a variety of M&A and strategic advisory assignments in the mining 
industry worldwide. 
 
David Twist –  Non-Executive Director  
 
Dr. David Twist has over 30 years of experience in the mining sector as a geologist. David 
who is based in Guernsey, is currently a director of Sephaku Holdings Ltd, a company 
involved in cement and fluorspar mine development projects and listed on the Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange. He has also acted as joint CEO of Platmin Ltd, a company now mining 
platinum group metals and formerly dual listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and the AIM 
market of the London Stock Exchange.  
 
He is currently an executive director of Gentor Resources Inc, NuPlats Ltd, African Nickel 
Ltd, Zirco Resources Ltd and several other companies. David is a member of the Geological 
Society of London and of the American-based Society of Economic Geologists. 
 
Carlo Baravalle – Non- Executive Director 
 
Mr Carlo Baravalle holds an MBA from INSEAD and brings a wealth of corporate finance 
experience to the Company. He is a co-founder of Africa Minerals Exploration & 
Development SICAR SCA (“AMED”) with Mr David Twist. AMED currently invests in 
mineral exploration and development opportunities, predominantly in Africa. 
 
He has also held senior positions in the telecoms industry with companies such as Lucent 
Technologies Inc and LCC International Inc. 
 
Mohan Kaul – Non-Executive Director 
 
Dr Mohan Kaul was appointed the first Director-General and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Commonwealth Business Council ("the CBC") on its establishment by the Commonwealth 
Heads of Government in Edinburgh in October 1997. He completed his term as Director-
General and was appointed CBC Co-Chair on 31 March 2012. 
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He is currently a director of Commonwealth Investment Corporation Ltd, Commonwealth 
Projects Ltd, Commonwealth Finance Corporation Ltd and several other organisations. Dr 
Kaul is a member of the Presidential Advisory Councils of Mozambique, Uganda and Zambia 
 
Directors’ responsibilities  
 
The directors are responsible for preparing the directors' report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.  
 
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. 
Under that law the directors have, as required by the AIM Rules of the London Stock 
Exchange, elected to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and have also elected to 
prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with those standards.  
 
Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and the group 
and of the profit or loss of the company and the group for that period. In preparing these 
financial statements the directors are required to: 
 
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs 

as adopted by the European Union; and 
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate 

to presume that the company will continue in business. 
 
The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to 
show and explain the company's transactions and to disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the company to enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the company and the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the company's website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of the financial statements and other information included 
in annual reports may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Statement on information given to auditor 
 
Each director at the time of approval of this report confirms so far as the director is aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the auditor is unaware, and he has taken all 
steps that he ought to have taken as director in order to make himself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the company’s auditor is aware of that information. 
 
Auditor 
 
A resolution to re-appoint BDO LLP as auditor for the ensuing year will be proposed at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting. 
 

 
 
Ben James 
Director 
11 November 2013 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
BAOBAB RESOURCES PLC 

 
We have audited the financial statements of Baobab Resources PLC for the year ended 30 
June 2013 which comprise the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of cash flows, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity, the company statement of comprehensive 
income, the company statement of financial position, the company cash flow statement, the 
company statement of changes in equity and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 
 
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors 
 
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view.  Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland).  Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
 
In our opinion:  
 
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent 

company’s affairs as at 30 June 2013 and of the group’s and the parent company’s loss for 
the year then ended; 

 
• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 

by the European Union; 
 
• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006. 
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
 
In our opinion the information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which 
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.  
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns 

adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 
 
• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records 

and returns; or 
 
• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

 
 
Stuart Barnsdall 
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, statutory auditor 
London 
United Kingdom 
 
Date: 11 November 2013 
 
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered 
number OC305127). 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 
 

 
Note 2013 

 
2012 

  
£ 

 
£ 

Continuing operations 
    

     
Exploration expenses 

 

      
(5,308,407) 

 

      
(6,139,225) 

Administrative expenses  
 

         
(2,821,078) 

 

         
(1,204,999) 

     
Loss from operations before tax  4 

      
(8,129,485) 

 

      
(7,344,224) 

     
Interest received 

 

          
129,802  

 
          131,236  

Other income 
 

24,677 
       

Loss before tax 
 

      
(7,975,006) 

 

      
(7,212,988) 

     Income tax expense  6                   -    
 

                  -    

     Loss for the period attributable to 
    

equity holders  
 

      
(7,975,006) 

 

      
(7,212,988) 

     Other comprehensive loss 
    Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss 
    

Foreign currency translation differences 
 

         
(216,305) 

 

         
(294,864) 

     Total comprehensive loss for the period  
    

Attributable to equity holders 
 

      
(8,191,311) 

 

      
(7,507,852) 

     Loss per share (basic and diluted) 7 (3.08) 
 

(3.70) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2013 
Company Number 5590467 
 

 
Note 

Year end 30 
June 2013 

 

Year end 30 
June 2012 

  
      £ 

 
      £ 

Non-current assets 
    Property, plant and equipment 8 242,201 

 
149,133 

Loans 9 154,675 
 

154,675 

     Total  non-current assets 
 

396,876 
 

303,808 

     Current assets 
    Trade and other receivables  10 506,658 

 
26,355 

Cash and cash equivalents 11 1,425,582 
 

1,178,959 

     Total current assets 
 

1,932,240 
 

1,205,314 

     Total assets 
 

2,329,116 
 

1,509,122 

     Equity attributable to the equity  
    holders of the parent 
    Share capital 13 3,011,134 

 
2,141,378 

Share premium 13 23,229,741 
 

15,842,742 
Reserves – warrants and options 14 1,257,938 

 
2,203,023 

Reserves - foreign currency translation 
 

(27,284) 
 

189,021 
Retained earnings 

 
(25,610,594) 

 
(19,916,472) 

     Total equity 
 

1,860,935 
 

459,692 

     Current liabilities 
    Trade and other payables 12 468,181 

 
1,049,430 

     Total liabilities 
 

468,181 
 

1,049,430 

     Total equity and liabilities  
 

2,329,116 
 

1,509,122 
 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue 
on 11 November 2013.  They were signed on its behalf by: 

 

 
 

Ben James 
Director 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 
 

 
 

30 June 2013  30 June 2012 
 Note       £        £ 
Cash flows from operating activities     
Net loss for the year  (7,975,006)  (7,212,989) 
Movement in trade and other receivables  (503,083)  (94,898) 
Movement in trade and other payables  (555,804)  (19,182) 
Depreciation  97,894  82,733 
Exchange difference  (32,231)  57,144 
Share based payments  1,219,622  111,247 
Net cash used in operating activities  (7,748,608)  (7,075,945) 
     
Cash flows from investing activities     
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (190,310)  (48,793) 
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (190,310)  (48,793) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Proceeds from issues of shares, options and 
warrants 

 8,579,268  3,130,150 

Share issue costs  (206,336)  (144,033) 
Net cash flows from financing activities  8,372,932  2,986,117 
     
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 434,014  (4,138,621) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
the period 

 1,178,959  5,707,844 

Exchange differences  (187,391)  (390,264) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the 
period 

11 1,425,582  1,178,959 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
Share 

Capital 
Share 

Premium 

Warrants 
and Option 

Reserve 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total 
Equity 

 ₤ ₤ ₤ ₤ ₤ ₤ 

Balance at 1 July 2011 1,876,378 13,191,201 2,446,166 483,885 (13,127,450) 
      

4,870,180 
       
Loss for the year -   - -  -  (7,212,988) (7,212,988) 
       
Foreign exchange 
translation differences - - - (294,864) - (294,864) 
       
Total other 
comprehensive income - - - (294,864) - (294,864) 
       
Total comprehensive 
loss for the year  -  - -  (294,864) (7,212,988) (7,507,852) 
       
Shares issued    265,000 2,865,150 - - - 3,130,150 
       
Share issue expenses - (213,609) - - -    (213,609) 
       
Share based payments - - 180,823 - - 180,823 
Share options and 
warrants 
exercised/forfeited -  -  (423,966)   - 423,966  - 
       
30 June 2012 2,141,378 15,842,742 2,203,023 189,021 (19,916,472) 459,692 

       
Balance at 1 July 2012 2,141,378 15,842,742 2,203,023 189,021 (19,916,472)       459,692 
       
Loss for the year -   - -  -  (7,975,006) (7,975,006) 
       
Foreign exchange 
translation differences - - - (216,305) - (216,305) 
       
Total other 
comprehensive loss - - - (216,305) - (216,305) 
       
Total comprehensive 
loss for the year  -  - -  (216,305) (7,975,006) (8,191,311) 
       
Shares and warrants 
issued 869,756 7,593,335 116,177 - - 8,579,268 
       
Share issue expenses - (206,336) - - -    (206,336) 
       
Share based payments - - 1,219,622 - - 1,219,622 
Share options and 
warrants 
exercised/forfeited -  - (2,280,884)  - 2,280,884  - 
       
30 June 2013 3,011,134 23,229,741 1,257,938 (27,284) (25,610,594) 1,860,935 
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1. General information 
 
Baobab Resources plc is a Company incorporated in the United Kingdom and is listed on the 
AIM market of the London Stock Exchange.  The address of the registered office is given on 
page 1.  The nature of the group's operations and its principal activities are set out in the 
Director’s Report. These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling which is also 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the parent Company operates.  
The functional currency in Mozambique and Australia which is the economic environment of 
the trading subsidiaries is the US Dollar and Australian Dollar respectively.  Foreign 
operations are included in accordance with the policies set out in Note 2. 
 
2. Significant accounting policies 
 
The significant policies which have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report 
are: 
 
Basis of accounting 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and their interpretations as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) as adopted by the European Union and implemented 
in the UK. They have also been prepared in accordance with those parts of the Companies Act 
2006 applicable to those companies reporting under IFRSs. The principal accounting policies 
are set out below. 
 
Going concern 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the going concern basis of 
accounting.  
 
The Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through a positive cash balance 
and has no borrowing facilities at present. The Group has incurred losses in the year. In 
common with other junior mining companies, Baobab Resources plc is reliant on raising 
funds periodically through equity finance or possibly debt facilities. The nature of the Group's 
business is such that there can be considerable unpredictable variation in the timing of cash 
flows.  
 
During the year the Company raised a total of £8,579,268 before costs by way of placements 
and issues of shares from exercise of warrants and options to fund its planned programme of 
exploration activities.  
 
The Group plans to continue with the evaluation and subsequent development of its Tete pig 
iron property in Mozambique and additional funding will be required in the next twelve 
months for the project to be progressed through the definitive feasibility study and for 
working capital purposes. Given the encouraging results from its current exploration 
programme, the directors are of the opinion that the Company will be successful in raising the 
funds required to progress the project as planned and for the required working capital. 
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On 11 October 2013, the Company entered into a placement agreement with its largest 
shareholder, Redbird Investments Ltd (“Redbird”) in which £750,000 was raised in a firm 
placement and a further £1,250,000 is to be raised conditional upon approval by a majority of 
the Company’s independent shareholders and The Panel on Takeovers and Mergers (“The 
Takeover Panel”). The Board believes that this funding should provide sufficient working 
capital for the foreseeable future, being a period of at least 12 months from the date the 
financial statements are approved. Attached to the placement is an options package which, if 
exercised, will provide additional funding to progress the project as planned. 
 
The Board are of the opinion that approval of the independent shareholders and The Takeover 
Panel will be forthcoming however,  in the event that approval is not granted and the 
conditional £1,250,000 fund raising is not completed,  based on the Directors projections, 
current cash resources, the ability to defer the planned exploration programme and the 
availability of funds from its equity funding agreement arranged by First Columbus LLP to 
provide working capital, the Directors consider that the Group and the Company have 
adequate financial resources for going concern purposes over the forthcoming twelve months. 
The Directors therefore consider it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on the 
going concern basis. 
 
New and revised standards 
 
Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been 
published that are mandatory for the accounting periods commencing 1 July 2012. Those 
applicable to the group are as follows: 
 

• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
 

The Group has not adopted any standards or interpretations in advance of the required 
implementation dates. It is not expected that adoption of standards or interpretations which 
have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board but have not been adopted 
will have a material impact on the financial statements.  
 
Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company 
and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 30 June each year.  
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The Company obtains 
and exercises control through voting rights. 
 
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the 
effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 
 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the 
accounting policies used into line with those used by the group. All transactions and balances 
between the companies in the Group are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised gains on 
transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries are eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated where there is no evidence of any impairment. 
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Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
 
The significant judgements made by management in applying the accounting policies during 
the year are included in the accounting policies under the captions “going concern” and 
“exploration and evaluation expenditure”. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty and areas of judgement 
 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management make judgements 
and estimates. The key assumptions concerning the future, and other sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial year are as follows: 
 
Depreciation and amortisation 
Depreciation and amortisation is provided so as to write down the assets to the residual values 
over their estimated useful lives. The selection of these residual values and estimated lives 
requires the exercise of management judgement. 
 
Share based payments 
The amounts recognised in respect of share based payments has been estimated based on the 
fair value of the options. To estimate this fair value an option pricing model has been used. 
There are many variables and assumptions used as inputs into the model (which have been 
detailed in note 14). If any of these assumptions or estimates were to change this could have a 
significant effect on the amount recognised. 
 
Income and expenses recognition 
 
Interest income is accrued by reference to the principal outstanding and its effective interest 
rate. 
 
Operating and exploration expenses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
based on the principles of accruals accounting. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transaction.  At the year end, monetary assets and 
liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at 
the balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising on retranslation are included in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the group's various operations are translated at 
exchange rates prevailing at the year end. Income and expense items are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. Exchange 
differences arising, if any, are recorded in other comprehensive income and transferred to the 
group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised as income or as 
expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of.   
 
Loans to subsidiaries are considered to be part of the Group’s net investment in those 
subsidiaries. Accordingly, translation differences in respect of such loans are recorded in 
other comprehensive income and transferred to the group’s translation reserve.  
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Such translation differences are recognised as income or as expenses in the period in which 
the operation is disposed of. 
 
Taxation 
 
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.  The tax 
currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.  Taxable profit differs from net profit 
as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are 
never taxable or deductible.  The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the year end.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates 
expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled.  
 
The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable 
temporary difference to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for 
certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No 
deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they 
arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did 
not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences.  Deferred 
tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 
amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation 
authority.  Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and  
settle the liability simultaneously.  Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts 
recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of goodwill. 
 
Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
recognised impairment loss. 
 
Depreciation 
 
Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment at rates calculated to write off 
the cost, less estimated residual value of each asset evenly over its expected useful life. 
Residual values are also annually reassessed and updated.  Depreciation rates used for  
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property, plant and equipment are between 10% - 40%.  The gain or loss arising on the 
disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds  
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, until an ore body is considered commercially recoverable. Once the ore body is 
determined to be commercially recoverable and a decision has been taken to proceed with 
development further development costs are capitalized and recognized as deferred exploration 
costs. 
 
Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs necessitated by exploration and evaluation 
activities are expensed as incurred and treated as exploration and evaluation expenditure. 
 
Joint arrangements 
 
The group is engaged in exploration activities which are conducted jointly with other parties 
under contractual arrangements. The group accounts for the related exploration costs in line 
with the terms of the specific agreement. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group's statement of financial 
position when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Loans receivable 
 
Loans receivable are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal amount less any 
provision for impairment. 
 
Trade receivables and trade payables 
 
Trade receivables and trade payables do not carry any interest and are stated at their nominal 
value. Trade receivables are reviewed and reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts.  These financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair 
value net of transaction costs and subsequently at amortised cost. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, together with other 
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Financial liabilities and equity 
 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into.  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences  
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residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities.  Financial 
liabilities are obligations to pay cash or other financial instruments and are recognised when 
the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Financial liabilities 
are recorded initially at fair value, net of direct issue costs. 
 
All financial liabilities are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with 
interest and related charges recognised as an expense in finance cost in the statement of 
comprehensive loss. 
 
Equity instruments 
 
Equity comprises the following: 
 

• "Share capital" represents the nominal value of equity shares. 
• "Share premium" represents the excess over nominal value of the fair value of 

consideration received for equity shares, net of expenses of the share issue. 
• "Warrants and option reserve" represents equity-settled share-based employee 

remuneration until such share options are exercised and equity-settled payments to the 
Company’s broker as part of remuneration for assisting with share placements. 

• "Foreign currency translation" represents the differences arising from translation of 
investments in overseas subsidiaries. 

 
Equity settled share based payments 
 
All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payment are 
measured at their fair values.  When employees are awarded using share-based payments, the 
fair value of employees' services are determined indirectly by reference to the fair value of the 
instrument granted to the employee.  This fair value is appraised at the grant date and 
excludes the impact of non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales 
growth targets). 
 
All equity-settled share-based payments for goods and services are ultimately recognised as 
an expense in the statement of comprehensive income with a corresponding credit to 
"warrants and option reserve". 
 
If vesting periods or other non-market vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over 
the vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the number of share options 
expected to vest. 
 
Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that the number of share options 
expected to vest differs from previous estimates.  Any cumulative adjustment prior to vesting 
is recognised in the current period.  No adjustment is made to any expense recognised in prior 
periods if share options ultimately exercised are different to that estimated on vesting.  Upon 
exercise of share options the proceeds received net of attributable transaction costs are 
credited to share capital, and where appropriate share premium. 
 
Where equity instruments are granted to persons other than employees, these are measured at 
fair value and recognised over their vesting period with a corresponding increase to warrants 
and options reserve. Upon the exercise of the award, consideration is recognised in equity. 
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3. Operating segments 
 
The Group determines and separately reports operating segments based on internal reports 
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by Mr Ben James, the chief 
operating decision maker, in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their 
performance. 
 
The group’s operations relate to the exploration for, and development of mineral deposits in 
Mozambique with support provided from Australia and the UK and as such, the Group has 
only one segment. 
 
Other geographical information 
 
 2013 
 UK Australia Mozambique Consolidated 
 £ £ £ £ 
Segment revenue                        -               -                      -               -  
     
Segment non-current assets                        -                 6,345  235,856 242,201 
     
 2012 
 UK Australia Mozambique Consolidated 
 £ £ £ £ 
Segment revenue                     -               -             -             -  
     
Segment non-current assets                        -                 10,430  138,703 149,133 
 
 
4. Operating loss 
   
a.  Group operating loss for the year is stated after charging the following: 

    
  

2013  2012 

  
 £    £  

     Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
 

97,894 
 

82,733 
Currency conversion  

 
25,501 

 
(27,026) 

Operating  lease charges 
 

154,944 
 

78,046 
Share based payments  

 
   1,219,622 

 
   111,247 

     b.  Auditor's remuneration 
 

   

  
   

Fees payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of the Group's annual 
financial statements 

 
      20,250  

 
      19,500  

Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for other services: 
         audit of the Group's subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 
 

- 
 

10,746 
     tax compliance and advisory   8,183  - 
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5. Personnel expenses 
 
Staff costs including director’s remuneration during the year were as follows: 

  
2013  2012 

  
£  £ 

     Wages and salaries  1,165,858  1,086,962 
Social security costs  46,692 	   48,451 
Share based payments  1,219,622 	   111,247 

  2,432,172 	   1,246,660 
  
The average number of employees of the group excluding the non-executive Directors at the 
year end was 63 (2012: 73). Staff were engaged in either exploration, administrative or 
managerial duties.   
 
The total staff costs for the year comprise of salaries and wages and contract labour costs. 
 
Remuneration in respect of Directors was as follows: 

  
2013 

 
2012 

  
£ 

 
£ 

     Emoluments 
 

388,141 
 

291,907 
Compensation for loss of office 

 
                    -  

 
                    -  

     
  

388,141 
 

291,907 
 
 
  2013  2012 
Directors’ fees, wages and salaries   £  £ 
     

Ben James  207,253  179,107 
Jonathan Beardsworth  27,000  24,000 
Jeremy Dowler  72,900  64,800 
Jon Crowe  22,600  24,000 
David Twist  24,859  - 
Carlo Baravalle  10,845  - 
Mohan Kaul  7,500  - 
     
  372,957  291,907 
 
The directors’ fees for David Twist and Carlo Baravalle are paid to African Minerals 
Exploration & Development GP SARL (“AMED”). The Group also pays a monitoring fee to 
AMED in respect of these directors; further details are included within note 18 to these 
financial statements. 
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During the current financial year the Company granted options to Directors and Officers to 
subscribe for total of 13,400,000 ordinary shares, with 12,400,000 options at a price of 15.0p 
per share and 1,000,000 options at a price of 20.0p. 
 
The 12,400,000 options were granted as a replacement for previous options held by most 
directors and key personnel with exercise prices varying from 10.0p to 40.0p which were 
cancelled. These replacement options had a common expiry date of 30 June 2016. 
 
During the previous financial year the Company granted options to Directors and Officers, to 
subscribe for a total of 500,000 ordinary shares at a price of 20p per share. 
  
The Board shall have the power to cause an option to lapse when the grantee leaves the 
Company by reason of their death, disability, injury, redundancy or retirement.  No monies 
will be paid for the options.  Each option will entitle the holder to subscribe for one fully paid 
ordinary share.   
 

  2013  2012 
Directors’ share based payments         £        £ 
     

Ben James  118,860  - 
Jeremy Dowler  62,260  - 
     
  181,120  - 

 
6. Income tax expense 
 
Recognised in the income statement 
 
The tax on operating loss at its effective rate is reconciled to the income tax provided in the 
financial statements as follows: 
  
     2013    2012 
        £       £ 
 
Operating loss   (7,975,006) (7,212,988) 
 
Income tax on operating loss at 30%  (2,392,502) (2,163,896) 
 
Non-deductible income tax expenses  1,809,900 1,853,974 
 
Income tax benefit not brought to account          582,602      309,922 
 
Income tax expense                  -                 - 
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Exploration expenditure incurred by Baobab Mining Services Pty Ltd (Australia) is 
recognised as non-deductible expenses. The exploration expenditure for the year is 
£4,278,257 (2012: £5,667,380).  
 
The Group has estimated accumulated tax losses of £8,430,699 (2012: £6,448,692).  The 
losses represent an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £2,579,210 (2012: £1,996,608). 
 
Deferred tax assets (unused tax losses) have not been recognised in respect of these losses 
because it is not sufficiently probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 
the group can utilise the benefits therefrom. 
 
7. Loss per share 
 
 2013 2012 
 £    £    
From continuing operations 
 
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss 
per share are based on the following data: 
 
Loss for the purpose of basic and dilutive earnings 
per share being net loss attributable to equity holders 
of the parent   (7,975,006) (7,212,988) 
 
Total number of ordinary shares in issue 
at the year end  301,113,426 214,137,900 
 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares: 
Basic   259,297,939 194,740,297 
 
Diluted   259,297,939 194,740,297 
 
Loss per share-basic (3.08p) (3.70 p) 
 
Loss per share-diluted  (3.08p) (3.70 p) 
 
The options are anti-dilutive so are not included in the diluted loss per share calculation. 
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8. Property, plant and equipment 
 

  
2013  2012 

  
 £    £  

  

Plant and 
equipment 

 

Plant and 
equipment 

     Opening balance at 1 July 
 

      433,102  
 

      384,665  
Additions 

 
      190,310  

 
      48,792  

Exchange differences 
 

         (1,380)  
 

         (355)  

     Closing balance at 30 June  
 

      622,032 
 

      433,102 

     Accumulated depreciation 
    

     Opening balance at 1 July 
 

      283,969  
 

      203,612  
Charge for the year  

 
        97,894 

 
        82,733  

Exchange differences 
 

         (2,032)  
 

         (2,376)  

     Closing balance at 30 June 
 

      379,831  
 

      283,969  

     Carrying amounts 
    

     Balance at 30 June 
 

      242,201 
 

      149,133 
 
9. Loans 

   2013  2012 

    £    £  
  Loans in respect of the Baobab Resources plc Employee       
  and Contractor Option Share Trust   154,675  154,675 

  
The loan is interest free and not repayable in the foreseeable future. 

 
10. Trade and other receivables 
 

	   	  
2013  2012 

	   	  
£  £ 

	   	  
   

Rental bond 
	  

        24,020  
	  

        21,680  
Prepayments  

	  
         2,487            4,675  

Accrued Interest 	   4,962  - 
Accrued IFC Contribution 	   475,189  - 

 
	  

        506,658          26,355  
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11. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

      2013  2012 
    £    £  
Cash at bank and in hand   1,425,582  1,178,959 

 
12. Trade and other payables 
 

  
2013 

 
2012 

  
 £  

 
 £  

     Trade creditors 
 

    286,984  
 

      267,479  
Accrued expenses 

 
      53,870  

 
        118,520  

Payroll taxes payable 
 

        8,341  
 

          8,265  
Superannuation payable 

 
        2,953  

 
          4,894  

Annual leave entitlement 
 

      96,197  
 

        94,957  
Long service leave entitlement        19,836   16,135 
IFC JV expenditure commitment 

 
    -  

 
      539,180  

  
468,181    

 
  1,049,430  

 
 
There are no significant terms and conditions with respect to the above that affect the amount 
and timing of future cash flows. 
 
13. Share capital and premium 
 2013 2013 2012 2012 
    £        £    
 Number Nominal value Number Nominal value 
(a) Authorised share capital 
  
 Ordinary shares of 1p each  1,000,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 
 Redeemable shares of £1 each 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 
  ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 
 
  1,000,050,000 10,050,000 1,000,050,000 10,050,000 
  ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 
 
 2013 2013 2012 2012 
 £    No of Shares £    No of Shares 
 (b) Allotted, called up and fully paid 
  
Ordinary shares of 1p each 
 Beginning of period 17,984,120 214,137,900 15,067,579 187,637,900 
 Issued during the period 
 Share capital  869,756 86,975,526 265,000 26,500,000 
 Share premium  7,593,335 - 2,865,150 - 
 Share issue cost (206,336) - (213,609) - 
  ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 
 End of financial period 26,240,875 301,113,426 17,984,120  214,137,900 
 ____________ ____________ ____________ ____________ 
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Details of shares issued during the year and gross capital raised are as follows: 
  

 
Date Number £ 

    At a price of 8.0p each 07/07/2012 50,000,000 4,000,000 

 
 

  
At a price of 10.0p each  24/08/2012 500,000 50,000 

 
 

  
At a price of 15.25p each 02/01/2013 7,135,526 1,088,168 

 
 

  
At a price of 9.0p each 23/01/2013 450,000 40,500 

 
 

  
At a price of 12.0p each 23/01/2013 1,150,000 138,000 

	  
 

	   	  
At a price of 12.0p each 30/01/2013 25,000,000 3,000,000 

 
 

  
At a price of 9.0p each 31/01/2013 750,000 67,500 

 
 

  
At a price of 9.0p each 08/02/2013 190,000 17,100 

 
 

  
At a price of 10.0p each 15/04/2013 800,000 80,000 

 
 

  
At a price of 9.0p each 26/06/2013 200,000 18,000 

 
 

  
At a price of 10.0p each 27/06/2013 800,000 80,000 
        
Total   86,975,526 8,579,268 

 
(c) Terms and conditions of contributed equity 
 

Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of 
winding up the Company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets 
in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. 
 
Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting 
of the Company. 

 
For the purposes of statutory financial statement preparation, the issued and fully paid 
ordinary shares had been rounded upward. 
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Redeemable shares 
      Rights attaching to the redeemable shares are as follows: 
 

(a)  In respect of any profits which the Company determines to distribute in respect of 
any financial year the redeemable shares shall rank pari passu in all respects with the      
ordinary shares as to dividends; 

 
(b)  In a return of capital on liquidation or capital reduction or otherwise, the surplus 

assets of the Company remaining after the payment of liabilities shall be distributed 
amongst the holders of the redeemable shares and ordinary shares (pari passu as if 
they constituted one class of share) in proportion to the number of redeemable shares 
and ordinary shares held by them respectively; 

 
(c)  The redeemable shares shall not entitle the holders thereof to receive notice of and to 

attend and vote (whether on a show or hands or on a poll) at any general meeting of 
the Company save that the consent or sanction of the holders of the redeemable 
shares shall be required for the modification of variation of the rights attached to the 
redeemable shares; 

 
(d)  Subject to the provisions of the Act, a redeemable share shall be redeemed 100 years 

from its date of issue or at any time prior thereto at the option of the Company. The 
holder of a redeemable share which is subject to redemption shall surrender to the 
Company on or before the date for redemption the certificate for such redeemable 
share in order that may be cancelled and upon cancellation the Company shall pay to 
the holder the nominal value of such redeemable share; and 

 
(e)  A redeemable share redeemed shall be cancelled and the Company shall not be 

entitled to re-issue the same. 
    
(d) Capital disclosures 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 
 

• to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern; 
• to maintain financial strength and optimal capital structure, while ensuring the 

Company’s strategic objectives are met; and 
• to provide an appropriate return to shareholders relative to the risk of the Company’s 

underlying assets. 
 
Given the nature of the Company’s current activities, the entity will remain dependent on 
equity funding in the short to medium term until such time when its assets achieve successful 
transition from exploration to development stage. 
 
The Company maintains and adjusts its capital structure based on changes in economic 
conditions and the Corporation’s planned requirements. The Board of Directors reviews the 
Company’s capital structure and monitors requirements. The Company may adjust its capital 
structure by issuing new equity and/or debt, selling and/or acquiring assets, and controlling 
capital expenditure programs. 
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14. Reserves – warrants and options 
 
During the current financial year the Company granted options to Directors and Officers to 
subscribe for total of 13,400,000 ordinary shares, with 12,400,000 options at a price of 15.0p 
per share and 1,000,000 options at a price of 20.0p. 
 
The 12,400,000 options were granted as a replacement for previous options held by most 
directors and key personnel with exercise prices varying from 10.0p to 40.0p which were 
cancelled. These replacement options had a common expiry date of 30 June 2016. 
 
A total of 2,100,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of 10.0p issued in previous years 
were exercised during the financial year. 
 
The Board shall have the power to cause an option to lapse when the grantee leaves the 
Company by reason of their death, disability, injury, redundancy or retirement. 
 
No monies will be paid for the options.  Each option will entitle the holder to subscribe for 
one fully paid ordinary share. 
 
Details of the number of share options and the weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) 
outstanding during the year are as follow: 

  
2013  WAEP 

  
Number  Pence 

 
    Outstanding at the beginning of the year 
 

        22,533,333         18.69  
Granted during the year 

 
        13,400,000         15.37  

Exercised during the year  
 

        (2,100,000)        10.00  
Cancelled during the year  

 
      (14,100,000)        26.60  

     Outstanding at the end of the year  
 

        19,733,333         11.71  

 
    Exercisable at the year end  
 

        19,733,333         11.71  

 
    

  
2012   WAEP  

  
Number   Pence  

 
    Outstanding at the beginning of the year 
 

        24,158,333         22.35  
Granted during the year 

 
            500,000         20.00  

Exercised during the year  
 

        (2,125,000)         8.36  

     Outstanding at the end of the year  
 

        22,533,333         18.69  

 
    Exercisable at the year end  
 

        22,533,333         18.69  
 
 
The share options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining 
contractual life of years 2.72 years (2012 – 1.63 years) and have the following exercise prices: 
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Expiry Date	   Exercise Price 2013 

 Pence Number  

 
	   	  27 January 2016 6.15 7,333,333 

30 June 2016 15.00 12,400,000 

 
	  

19,733,333 

 
	   	  Expiry Date	   Exercise Price 2012 

 Pence Number 

 
	   	  27 January 2016 6.15 7,333,333 

30 June 2013 10.00 4,200,000 
31 January 2013 40.00 5,700,000 
30 April 2013 20.00 1,500,000 
31 January 2013 20.00 3,800,000 

	   	  
22,533,333 

 
The fair values for the options issued in the current year were calculated using the Black-
Scholes Pricing Model.  The inputs into the model were as follows: 

2013 
Number  Weighted Ave Weighted Ave Expected  Weighted Risk Value of 
Granted  Share Price Option Value Volatility  Free Rate
 Options 
12,400,000 21.82p  15p     95%  1.50%  13.54p 
1,000,000 10.00p  20p     80%  1.50%    0.22p 
 

2012 
Number  Weighted Ave Weighted Ave Expected  Weighted Risk Value of 
Granted  Share Price Option Value Volatility  Free Rate
 Options 
500,000  14.76p  20p     100%  1.50%  3.81p 
 
Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the comparator 
Company's share price volatility.  
 
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management's best estimate, 
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral considerations. 
 
Dividend yield used in the calculations is Nil. 
 
The Company recognised total expenses of £1,219,622 (2012 - £111,247) related to equity 
settled share-based payment transactions during the year. 
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Warrants 

	   	  
2013 

	  
WAEP 

	   	  
Number 

	  
Pence 

 
	   	   	   	  Outstanding at the beginning of the year 
	  

     2,895,556  	            10.61  
Granted during the year 

	  
   25,000,000  	            12.00  

Exercised during the year 	   (27,740,000) 	   11.83 

 
	  

                  	                     
Outstanding at the end of the year  

	  
155,556  	   16.88  

 	   	   	   	  Exercisable at the year end  
	  

   155,556            16.88  

 	   	   	   	  
	   	  

2012 
	  

 WAEP  

	   	  
 Number  

	  
 Pence  

 
	   	   	   	  Outstanding at the beginning of the year 
	  

      155,556  	            16.88  
Granted during the year 

	  
   2,740,000  	            12.96  

 
	  

	   	   	  
Outstanding at the end of the year  

	  
   2,895,556  	   10.61  

 	   	   	   	  Exercisable at the year end  
	  

   2,895,556            10.61  
  
The Company issued 25,000,000 warrants to Redbird as a separate instrument with an 
exercise price of 12.00p expiring 6 July 2013 during the year. The fair value of these unlisted 
warrants were valued at £116,177 according to the Black Scholes model with the following 
inputs: 

2013 
Number  Weighted Ave Weighted Ave Expected  Weighted Risk Value of 
Granted  Share Price Warrant Value Volatility  Free Rate
 Warrants 
25,000,000 8.00p  12p  95%  1.50%  0.01p 
 
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management's best estimate, 
for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral considerations. 
 
Dividend yield used in the calculations is Nil. 
 
A total of 27,740,000 warrants were then exercised during the year.	  
 
15. Contingent liabilities 
 
There are no contingent liabilities. 
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16. Events after the balance sheet date 
 
In August 2013 the Group received approximately £629,390 from IFC through a pro rata 
contribution as part of its 15% interest in the Tete joint venture project. 
 
In September 2013 the Company issued 10.5 million unlisted options consisting of 5.0 million 
options exercisable at 25.00p and 5.5 million options exercisable at 20.00p with an expiry 
date of 30 June 2016. 
 
During October 2013 the Company has raised further funds through two separate placements. 
A further £101,500 was drawn down from the Company’s £17,000,000 Equity Line of Credit 
facility with Dutchess Opportunity Cayman Fund Ltd, leaving an available balance of  
£13,724,300. A total of 725,000 ordinary shares were issue and allotted at 14.00 pence per share. 
 
In addition, the Company entered into a placement agreement with African Minerals Exploration 
& Development SICAR SCA through its wholly owned subsidiary Redbird Investments Ltd 
(“Redbird”).  A total of £750,000 before expenses was raised through Redbird subscribing for 
5,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of 15.00 pence per share. Redbird was also granted 
5,000,000 options exercisable at 20.00 pence each with an expiry date of 30 June 2016. 
 
The Company has 306,838,426 fully paid ordinary shares in issue following the issue of these 
shares. 
 
The Company also conditionally placed with Redbird, subject to shareholder and regulatory 
approval, the following: 
 

1. 8,500,000 ordinary shares at a price of 15.00 pence per share; 
2. 8,500,000 options exercisable at 20 pence per option and expiring 30 June 2016; 
3. Up to 27,000,000 options at an exercise price per ordinary share equal to 105% of the 

volume-weighted exercise price for the five consecutive trading days immediately prior 
to the date of exercise. These options are exercisable in whole or in part multiples of 
500,000 from the date of issue until the first anniversary of the issue. 
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17. Subsidiaries 
 
The Baobab Group structure is illustrated below: 
 

100% 100%

100% 50% 50%

50%

50%

Shareholders

Baobab Resources plc 
(Listed on AIM, United 

Kingdom)

Baobab Mining Services 
Pty Ltd

(Australia)

Capitol Resources Lda
(Mozambique)

Mocambique Resources Ltd
(British Virgin Islands)

Maputo Minerals Ltd
(British Virgin Islands)

Mayfair Mineral Exploration Lda
(Mozambique)
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18. Related parties 
 
a) Key management personnel 
 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 20. 
 
b) Transactions with related parties 
 

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have 
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. 
 

       During the financial year IFC in relation to the joint venture agreement with the 
Company, agreed to contribute on a pro-rata basis £629,390 (2012 - £1,205,397) being its 
share of the annual exploration budget for the Tete project. This contribution was received 
by the Company in August 2013.  

 
Consultancy fees and expense reimbursements of £9,181 (2012 - £6,915) were paid to 
Millridge Holdings Pty Ltd a Company associated with a former Director, Jon Crowe. 
Accounting and company secretarial fees of £128,267 (2012 - £120,752) were paid to 
GDA Corporate Pty Ltd a Company associated with Mr Graham Anderson during the 
financial year.   
 
Monitoring fees of £44,639 (2012 - Nil) were paid to African Minerals Exploration & 
Development SICAR SCA, a Company associated with Dr David Twist and Mr Carlo 
Baravelle.  
 
In addition, during the year the Company issued 50 million ordinary shares to Redbird 
Investments Ltd (“Redbird”) at 8.0 pence, through a share placement. As part of the 
placement it also issued 25 million warrants as a separate instrument with an exercise 
price of 12.0 pence each and expiring 6 July 2013. 
 
These warrants were subsequently exercised during the year and 25 million ordinary 
shares were allotted to Redbird. 

 
Related party transactions were on terms throughout the year which are equivalent to 
those that prevail in arm's length transactions. 

 
19. Financial instruments 
 
a) Financial risk management 
 

The Group's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts 
receivable and payable and loans to and from subsidiaries that arise directly from its 
operations. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the 
Group's operations. 
 
The existence of these financial instruments exposes the Group to a number of financial 
risks, however to date the Group has not been exposed to any significant risks for which 
the Directors have had to use hedging or other financial risk minimising transactions. 
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b) Financial instruments 
 

i. Interest rate risk 
 

The Group had no corporate borrowings during the year and as such there was no 
interest rate risk in relation to borrowings.  The Group retains surplus cash balances 
on short term deposits with rates fixed over those terms (between 1 month and 3 
months). 
 

The following sensitivity analysis is based on the interest rate risk exposure in existence at the 
balance sheet date. If interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other 
variables held constant, the interest income earned by the Group would have been affected as 
follows: 
 

Interest rate risk  2013 2012 
Judgements reasonable possible  £ £ 
Interest income - higher/(lower)    
    
(+ 1%)  14,256 11,790 
( - 1%)  (14,256) (11,790) 
    

 
The group's exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instruments value 
will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average 
interest rates on classes of financial assets and liabilities are as follows: 

 
 Weighted average 
 Effective interest Floating interest Non-interest 
            rate            rate bearing Total 
 2013 2013 2013 2013 
  £ £ £ 
Financial assets 
Loans receivable            Nil -          154,675 154,675 
Cash and cash equivalents 2.80% 1,425,582 - 1,425,582 
 
Total financial assets  1,425,528 154,675 1,580,257 
 
Liabilities 
Trade and other payables Nil - 352,148 352,148 
                   
 
Total financial liabilities              - 352,148 352,148 
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 Weighted average 
 effective interest Floating interest Non-interest 
            rate            rate bearing Total 
 2012 2012 2012 2012 
  £ £ £ 
Financial assets 
Loans receivable            Nil -          154,675 154,675 
Cash and cash equivalents 4.43% 1,178,959 - 1,178,959 
 
Total financial assets  1,178,959 154,675 1,333,634 
 
Liabilities 
Trade and other payables Nil - 399,157 399,157 
                   
 
Total financial liabilities              - 399,157 399,157 
 
There are no significant terms and conditions with respect to the above that affect the amount 
and timing of future cash flows. 
 
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost. All financial assets are categorised as 
loans and receivables. 
 
ii. Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk that arises from the change in price of one currency against another.  
The Group is exposed to currency risk as its reporting currency is in British Pounds and a 
proportion of its assets and liabilities are denominated in US Dollars, Australian Dollars and 
Mozambique Meticals.  
 
The following sensitivity analysis is based on the currency risk exposure in existence at the 
balance sheet date. If currency had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other 
variables held constant, the effect on net monetary assets and losses for the year of the Group 
would be as follows: 
 

Currency risk   2013 2012 
Judgements reasonable possible  £ £ 
Currency conversion - higher/(lower) AUD to GBP monetary 
net assets    
    
(+ 10%)  91,710 58,949 
(- 10%)  (83,373) (53,590) 

 
Currency risk   2013 2012 
Judgements reasonable possible  £ £ 
Currency conversion - higher/(lower) USD to GBP monetary 
net assets    
    
(+ 10%)  1,610 13,842 
(- 10%)  (1,464) (12,583) 
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iii. Liquidity risk 
 
The Group’s practice is to regularly review cash needs including those of its subsidiaries and 
to place excess funds on fixed term deposits for periods not exceeding three months with an 
institution that is of high credit rating. 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by control of expenses and periodic raising of additional 
equity. The Group has sufficient funds to continue operations for the forthcoming year.   
 
iv. Credit risk 
 
The Group is exposed to credit risk on the financial institution with which it holds cash and 
short-term deposits, all of which were held with reputable banks. Maximum exposure would 
be the amounts shown in the balance sheet. The loan receivable is also exposed to credit risk 
but is not considered material. 
 
v. Fair values 
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximately their carrying value. 
 
20. Commitments 

 
Leases commitments – Operating 
 
Committed at the reporting date but not recognized as liabilities payable: 
 

  
< 1 Year 

 
1 - 5 Years 

  
 £  

 
 £  

Office in Perth, Western Australia 
 

21,607 
 

3,601 
Office & housing in Mozambique 

 
98,580 

 
14,787 

  
 

 
 

  
120,187 

 
18,388 

 
Operating lease commitments includes contracted amounts for offices and housing in 
Australia and Mozambique. 
 
21. Key management personnel disclosures 
 
a)  Directors 
 

The following persons were Directors of Baobab Resources plc during the financial year: 
 

Jeremy Dowler 
Jonathan Beardsworth 
Ben James  
Alexander Jon Crowe – Resigned 30 April 2013 
David Twist – Appointed 17 August 2012 
Carlo Baravalle – Appointed 30 January 2013  
Mohan Kaul – Appointed 1 May 2013 
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b) Other key management personnel 
 
In addition to the directors listed above, the following person is considered to be part of 
key management: 
 
Graham Anderson - Chief Financial Officer  

 
c) Key management personnel compensation 

     2013    2012 
        £       £ 
 

Short term employee benefits   401,347 317,971 
 
As disclosed in Note 18, Mr Graham Anderson receives fees through GDA Corporate Pty Ltd 
a Company that he is associated with. 
 
In addition, key management personnel also received share based payments amounting to 
£181,120 (2012 – £41,047). 
 
d) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel 

 
i. Shareholdings 
 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of 
Baobab Resources plc and other key management personnel of the group, are set out below: 

 

  
Balance at start 2013 Changes during Balance at  

Directors 
 

       of year the year end of year 

     Jeremy Dowler 
 

             8,165,169                  500,000               8,665,169  
Ben James 

 
             1,864,500   -               1,864,500  

Jonathan Beardsworth 
 

                250,000                  800,000             1,050,000  
 
 
e) Loans to key management personnel 

 
There were no loans to key management personnel. 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 
   
 Note Company Company  
        
     2013    2012 
        £       £ 
Other income  24,677 - 
 
Administrative expenses      (9,551,539) (2,978,226) 
 
Loss from operations before tax   (9,526,862) (2,978,226) 
 
Income tax expense  2                -                - 
Loss and total  comprehensive loss for the year   
attributable to equity holders of the parent  (9,526,862) (2,978,226) 
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AT 30 JUNE 2013    

  
Company  

 
Company  

  
2013 

 
2012 

 
Note £ 

 
£ 

     Non-current assets 
    Investment in subsidiaries 4                     3  

 
                    3  

Loans  5           154,675  
 

          154,675  

 
 

   Total non-current assets            154,678  
 

          154,678  

 
 

   Current assets  
   Cash and cash equivalents                  138,866  

 
                957  

 
 

   Total current assets                  138,866  
 

                957  

 
 

   Total assets            293,544  
 

          155,635  

 
 

   
 

 
   Equity  
   Share capital 7         3,011,134  

 
        2,141,378  

Share premium        23,229,741  
 

      15,842,742  
Reserves - warrants and options 8         1,257,938  

 
        2,203,023  

Accumulated loss      (27,305,775) 
 

    (20,059,797) 

 
 

   Total equity            193,038  
 

          127,346  

 
 

   Current liabilities  
   Trade and other payables 6             100,506  

 
            28,288  

Total equity and liabilities  
 

          293,544  
 

          155,634  
 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 
11 November 2013.  They were signed on its behalf by: 
 

 
Ben James 
Director 



Baobab Resources plc 
Annual Report 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

Page | 54  
 

 
 
COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 
 
 

 
Note 

Year ended 30 
June 2013 

 

Year ended 30 
June 2012 

  
      £ 

 
      £ 

     Cash flows from operating activities 
    Net  loss for the year 
 

       (9,526,862) 
 

          (2,978,226) 
Movement in trade and other provisions 

 
         7,681,831  

 
           2,396,652  

Movement in trade and other payables 
 

             72,217  
 

              (31,873) 
Share based payments 

 
         1,219,622  

 
              111,247  

     Net cash used in operating activities 
 

          (553,192) 
 

            (502,200) 

     Cash flows from investing activities 
    Purchases of property, plant and equipment 
 

                   -    
 

                      -    
Net cash flows used in investing activities 

 
                   -    

 
                      -    

     Cash flows from financing activities 
    Loans to subsidiaries and related 

undertakings 
 

       (7,681,831) 
 

          (2,483,952) 
Proceeds from issues of shares, options and 
warrants 

 
         8,579,268  

 
           3,130,150  

Share issue costs 
 

          (206,336) 
 

            (144,033) 
Net cash flows from financing activities 

 
           691,101  

 
              502,165  

     Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
           137,909  

 
                    (35) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
the period 

 
                 957  

 
                    992  

     Cash and cash equivalents at end of the 
period 

 
           138,866  

 
                    957  
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 
 

   Warrants   
Share  Share  Share  and options  Accumulated Total 
 capital  premium  reserve  loss  equity 
 £  £  £  £  £ 
      
Balance at 1 July 2011 1,876,378 13,191,201 2,446,166 (17,505,537) 8,208 
      
Net loss for the year  -  -  - (2,978,226) (2,978,226) 
      
Total comprehensive loss       
for the period   -  -  - (2,978,226) (2,978,226) 
      
Shares issued  265,000 2,865,150 - - 3,130,150 
      
Share issue expenses - (213,608) - - (213,608) 
      
Share based payments        -  - 180,823  - 180,823 
      
Share options and warrants 
exercised/forfeited - - (423,966) 423,966 - 
      
30 June 2012 2,141,378 15,842,742 2,203,023 (20,059,797) 127,346 

      
   Warrants   
 Share  Share  and options  Accumulated Total 
 capital  premium  reserve  loss  equity 
 £  £  £  £  £ 
      
Balance at 1 July 2012 2,141,378 15,842,742 2,203,023 (20,059,797) 127,346 
      
Net loss for the year  -  -  - (9,526,862) (9,526,862) 
      
Total comprehensive loss      
for the year   -  -  - (9,526,862) (9,526,862) 
      
Shares and warrants  issued  869,756 7,593,335 116,177 - 8,579,268 
      
Share issue expenses - (206,336) - - (206,336) 
      
Share based payments        -  - 1,219,622  - 1,219,622 
      
Share options and warrants 
exercised/forfeited - - (2,280,884) 2,280,884 - 
      
30 June 2013 3,011,134 23,229,741 1,257,938 (27,305,775) 193,038 
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
1. Significant accounting policies 
 
The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are 
included within the group’s accounting policies as set out on pages 27 to 32. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  
 
Basis of accounting 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and their interpretations as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) as adopted by the European Union and implemented 
in the UK. They have also been prepared in accordance with those parts of the Companies Act 
2006 applicable to those companies reporting under IFRS. The principal accounting policies 
which are different to those stated for the Group are set out below. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty and areas of judgement 
 
In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management make judgements 
and accounting estimates. The key assumption concerning the future, and other sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that has a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial year is as 
follows: 
 
Provision for loans made to subsidiaries 
The decision over whether loans made to subsidiary companies are recoverable is determined 
by the directors. The decision is made by reference to the underlying mineral properties. 
 
2. Income tax expense 
 
The tax on operating loss at its effective rate is reconciled to the income tax provided in the 
financial statements as follows: 
 
     2013    2012 
        £       £ 
 
Operating loss   (9,526,862) (2,978,226) 
 
Income tax on operating loss at 30%  (2,858,059) (893,468) 
Non-deductible income tax expenses  2,771,015 831,539 
Income tax benefit not brought to account   87,044 61,929 
 
Income tax expense              -            - 
  
The Company has estimated accumulated tax losses of £2,333,063 (2012: £2,042,917). The 
losses represent an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £656,569 (2012: £569,525). Deferred 
tax assets (unused tax losses) have not been recognised in respect of these losses because it is 
not sufficiently probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the group 
can utilise the benefits therefrom. 
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3. Inter-company loans 
     2013    2012 
        £       £ 
 
Loans to subsidiaries  23,800,404 16,118,573 
Provision for irrecoverable amounts  (23,800,404) (16,118,573) 
 
                  -              - 
 
The directors have determined that it is appropriate to make full provision against the loans 
made to subsidiary companies. The total amount of the loan before provision is £23,800,404 
and during the year £7,681,831 was charged to the income statement. 
 
Currently the subsidiary companies are engaged in the exploration and evaluation of mineral 
properties and to date, no decision has been made to progress the projects to the development 
stage. Due to the uncertainty of extracting value from the underlying projects, full provision 
has been made against the loans advanced. 
 
4. Investment in subsidiaries 
     2013    2012 
        £       £ 
 
Shares        3       3 
 
        3       3 
 
Details of the Company's subsidiaries at 30 June 2013 are as follows: 
 
Name of subsidiary     Place of    Ownership   Voting 
    incorporation interest     power 
 
Maputo Minerals Limited     British Virgin Islands  100% 100% 
Mocambique Resources Limited   British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 
Capitol Resources Lda     Mozambique  100%  100% 
Mayfair Mineral Exploration Lda    Mozambique 100% 100% 
Baobab Mining Services Pty Ltd   Australia  100%  100% 
 
Name of subsidiary      Principal Activities  
 
Maputo Minerals Limited     Corporate shareholder of Capitol Resources Lda 
Mocambique Resources Limited   Corporate shareholder of Capitol Resources Lda 
Capitol Resources Lta     Holds mining assets and interests in Mozambique 
Mayfair Mineral Exploration Lda Holds mining assets and interests in Mozambique 
Baobab Mining Services Pty Ltd   Administration of Group’s operations and activities 
 
The subsidiaries were acquired as shell companies with no net assets or any goodwill on 
acquisition.  The amounts paid represent the shares issued to the Company. 
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5. Loans  

   2013  2012 
    £    £  

Loans in respect of the Baobab Resources plc 
Employee and Contractor Option Share Trust   154,675  154,675 

 
The loan is interest free and not repayable in the foreseeable future. 
 
6. Trade and other payables 
     2013    2012 
        £       £ 
 
Trade payables  100,506 28,288 
 
7. Share capital and premium 
 
The movements in share capital and premium are disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
8.  Reserves – warrants and options 
 
Reserves – warrants and options are disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
9.  Financial instruments 

 
The financial risk management disclosures for the Company are covered in note 19 to the 
Group financial statements. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
The Company's exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instruments 
value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted 
average interest rates on classes of financial assets and liabilities are as follows: 
 
Weighted average 
 Effective interest Floating interest  Non-interest 
            rate            rate  bearing Total 
 2013 2013 2013 2013 
  £ £ £ 
Financial assets 
Loans receivable      Nil - 154,675 154,675  
Cash and cash equivalents 2.5% 138,866 - 138,866 
 
 
Total financial assets  138,866 154,675 293,541 
 
Liabilities 
Trade and other payables Nil        - 100,506 100,506 
Total financial liabilities          - 100,506 100,506 
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 Effective interest Floating interest  Non-interest 
            rate            rate      bearing Total 
 2012 2012 2012 2012 
  £ £ £ 
Financial assets 
Loans receivable      Nil - 154,675 154,675  
Cash and cash equivalents 2.5% 957 - 957 
 
 
Total financial assets  957 154,675 155,632 
 
Liabilities 
Trade and other payables Nil        - 28,288 28,288 
Total financial liabilities          - 28,288 28,288 
 
  
There are no significant terms and conditions with respect to the above that affect the amount 
and timing of future cash flows. 
 
All financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost. All financial assets are categorised as 
loans and receivables. 
 
There are no significant risks relating to the Company’s financial instruments 
 
11. Related parties 
 
a) Key management personnel 
 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 11. 
 
b) Transactions with related parties 
 

The Company provides interest free loans to its subsidiaries on a continual basis to fulfill 
operational and exploration commitments engaged during the financial year. Loan 
transactions between the parent entity and subsidiaries for the 30 June 2013 financial year 
amounted to £7,681,830 (2012 - £2,396,652). The loans are provided for within the 
expenses being charged to the income statement.    
 
Company secretarial fees of £27,532 (2012 - £23,057) were paid to GDA Corporate Pty 
Ltd a Company associated with Mr Graham Anderson during the financial year. 
 
Director fees of £50,888 (2012 - Nil) were paid to African Minerals Exploration & 
Development SICAR SCA, a Company associated with Mr David Twist and Mr Carlo 
Baravelle. 
 
In addition, during the year the Company issued 50 million ordinary shares to Redbird 
Investments Ltd (“Redbird”) at 8.0 pence, through a share placement. As part of the 
placement it also issued 25 million warrants with an exercise price of 12.0 pence each and 
expiring 6 July 2013. 
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These warrants were subsequently exercised on 30 January 2013 and 25 million ordinary 
shares were allotted to Redbird. 

 
12. Key management personnel disclosures 
 
a. Directors 
 

The following persons were Directors of Baobab Resources plc during the financial year: 
 

Jeremy Dowler 
Jonathan Beardsworth 
Ben James 
Jon Crowe  
David Twist 

 
b. Other key management personnel 
 

In addition to the directors listed above, the following person is considered to be part of 
key management: 
 
Graham Anderson - Chief Financial Officer  

 
c. Key management personnel compensation 
 

  
2013  2012 

  
      £        £ 

     
Short term employee benefits 

 
          180,888  

 
          112,800  

Social security costs 
 

              9,020  
 

              9,944    

  
          189,908  

 
          122,744 

   
The director, Ben James, is remunerated through Baobab Mining Services Limited and 
Capitol Resources Lda and his remuneration is disclosed in note 5 and note 20 of the  
consolidated financial statements. 

 
d. Loans to key management personnel 
 

There were no loans to key management personnel. 
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13.  Events after the balance sheet date 
 

In September 2013 the Company issued 10.5 million unlisted options to Directors and 
employees consisting of 5.0 million options exercisable at 25.00p and 5.5 million options 
exercisable at 20.00p with an expiry date of 30 June 2016. 
 
During October 2013 the Company has raised further funds through two separate 
placements. A further £101,500 was drawn down from the Company’s £17,000,000 
Equity Line of Credit facility with Dutchess Opportunity Cayman Fund Ltd, leaving an 
available balance of £13,724,300. A total of 725,000 ordinary shares were issue and 
allotted at 14.00 pence per share. 
 
In addition, the Company entered into a placement agreement with African Minerals 
Exploration & Development SICAR SCA through its wholly owned subsidiary Redbird 
Investments Ltd (“Redbird”).  A total of £750,000 before expenses was raised through 
Redbird subscribing for 5,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of 15.00 pence per share. 
Redbird was also granted 5,000,000 options exercisable at 20.00 pence each with an expiry 
date of 30 June 2016. 
 
The Company has 306,838,426 fully paid ordinary shares in issue following the issue of 
these shares. 
 
The Company also conditionally placed with Redbird, subject to shareholder and 
regulatory approval, the following: 

 
1. 8,500,000 ordinary shares at a price of 15.00 pence per share; 
2. 8,500,000 options exercisable at 20 pence per option and expiring 30 June 2016; 
3. Up to 27,000,000 options at an exercise price per ordinary share equal to 105% of 

the volume-weighted exercise price for the five consecutive trading days 
immediately prior to the date of exercise. These options are exercisable in whole or 
in part multiples of 500,000 from the date of issue until the first anniversary of the 
issue. 

 


